Landmarks Preservation
Commission

TESTIMONY BEFORE THE NEW YORK CITY COUNCIL
SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES
REGARDING DESIGNATION OF THE CORBIN BUILDING

September 21, 2015

My name is Lauren George, Director of Intergovernmental and Community Affairs at the Landmarks
Preservation Commission (LPC). | am here to testify on the designation of the Corbin Building at 11
John Street (aka 1-13 john Street; 192 Broadway), Manhattan (Built 1888-89; Francis H. Kimball,
architect} as an individual landmark.

On May 12, 2015 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
designation of the Corbin Building. The hearing was advertised in accordance with the provisions of
law. At that hearing there were four speakers in favor of the designation, including a representative of
the Metropolitan Transit Authority, representatives of the Historic Districts council, the New York
Landmarks Conservancy and Citizens for Downtown. The Commission also received a letter in support
of designation from Council Member Margaret Chin. There were no speakers in opposition to the
designation. This designation was approved unanimously by the LPC on June 23, 2015, which marks a
record efficient timeframe between calendaring and landmark designation of a property.

The Corbin Building was constructed in 1888-1889, a time of tremendous growth in Lower Manhattan.
It is a remarkable surviving example of a tall office building from the earliest period of development. It
was named for its owner, Austin Corbin, a wealthy businessman who owned the Long Island Railroad
and was the work of prominent New York architect Francis H. Kimball. Kimball is known for his
pioneering work including the creation of “cassion” foundations and the design of distinct New York
buildings including the Montauk Club, the Manhattan Life Building and the Standard Building along
with several churches and theaters.

This building is notable for many reasons. The eight-story transitional skyscraper once loomed over
most of its neighbors. It features a cage construction with cast iron beams and bearing masonry walls,
a system which predates the steel frame which allowed buildings to grow further upward. It was
designed in the animated Francois First style with numerous layers of exterior stone, brick and terra
cotta and abundant Gothic-inspired details. The iron window frames also featured embossed designs
making them prominent in the facade.

The building was fully restored by the MTA in connection with the construction of the Fulton
Transportation Center including the replacement of its pyramidal tower roofs, reconstruction of

ground-level stores and the replacement of windows.

The Landmarks Preservation Commission urges you to affirm this designation.

Meenakshi Srinivasan, Chair
1 Centre Street, 9" FL, New York, NY 10007 0 212-669-7855 O www.nve.gov/landmarks
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CORBIN BU ﬁg}i‘a{; I'l John Street (aka 1-13 John Street; 192 éﬁ‘r{}adwa}é, Marthattan.
Built 1888-89; Francis H. Kimball, architect

Landmark Site: Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 79, Lot 15 in part, consisting of the land
underneath the described building.

On May 12, 2015, the Landimarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed designation
as a Landmark of the Corbin Building and the proposed designation of the related Landmark Site (Item No. 1} The
hearing was duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law. Four speakers testified in favor of the
designation, including a zgpwxummc of the Metropolitan Transpiration Authority, representatives of the Historic
Districts Council, the New \mk Landmarks Conservancy, and Citizens for Downtown. There were no speakers in
opposition to the dc&g; ation. The Commission also received a letter in support of des signation from Council Member
Margaret S, Chin,

Summary

The Corbin Building is a remarkable example of a
transitional skyscraper building, constructed in 1888-89, during
a time of tremendous growth and change in Lower Manhattan,
When it was built, the cight-and-nine-story Corbin Buildi ing was
considerably taller than most of its nuwhbars It was construcied
with cast-iron beams and bearing masonry walls, preceding the
development of the full steel frame that enabled structures to
rise significantly higher. The Corbin Building was designed by
Francis H. Kimball, a prominent New York architect who
pmmuud carly skxsuapu development with the creation of
“caisson” foundations and was notable for his innovative use of
terra cotta. He is known for the design of numerous tall
buildings in New York and elsewhere. Examples of his work
include the Montauk Club (located within the Park Slope
Historic District), the Empire Building, the Trinity and United
States Realty Buildings, the J. W. Seligman & Company
Building (all designated New York City Landmarks) and many
others.

The Corbin Building was named for its owner., Austin
Corbin, a wealthy businessman who founded banks and the
Long Island Railroad and owned numerous properties in New
York. The building is designed in an expressive Francois
Premicer style with brownstone and brick walls and round- -
arched openings ornamented with abundant Gothic details, . primarily rendered in terra cotta. Projecting iron
window bays with claborate embossed designs are also prominent in the design, as are large window
openings with continuous masonry piers between them. Kimball used a variety of atvlu on his many
buildings, but often referred to the rationality of the French Gothic style that he was c,\poxa,d to during the
period he spent with William Burges in London. Many of his builc dings display clements of Gothie styles
mcluding skyscrapers as well as smaller structures.

The Corbin Building was built as a speculative office for rental as well as for housing Corbin’s bank
and was located in the expanding business district of Lower Manhattan. The building remains substantially
intact and is now part of the Fulton Transportation Center. Its ground level storefronts and entrances and its
pyramidal tower roofs have been reconstructed as part of the recent renovations and restoration by the
Metropolitan Transit Authority.




BUILDING DESCRIPTION

Description

The Corbin Building has a 20-foot-wide facade facing Broadway and extends for more than
162 feet along John Street. It is eight stories tall, with an extra story at the eastern and western ends
and is slightly trapezoidal in plan. All windows have been replaced.
Broadway facade
Historic: Nine stories facing Broadway; second-and-third story corner piers clad in alternating
courses of Long Meadow brownstone and red English Rancorn stone; applied cast-iron ornament at
top of third-story piers; fourth story and above clad in light-colored brick; elaborate terra-cotta
window surrounds, sills and spandrel panels in upper stories: distinctive belt courses above first,
second, third, fourth, and seventh stories; arcaded terra-cotta cornice above eighth story; narrow
terra-cotta cornice above ninth story; cast-iron window surrounds and spandrel panels on second
through fourth stories; windows paired or grouped with narrow piers and transom bars and
projecting bays on second and third stories.

Alierations: Ground story recreated in sandstone with large entrance arch; metal-and-glass
replacement door and surround with rounded, three-section transom set within arch; pyramidal roof
replaced on tower section; cast iron painted: some terra cotta replaced in kind, all terra cotta

painted.

John Street facade

Historic: Cladding materials similar to Broadway facade; first bay on west and last bay on cast have
similar fenestration patterns to front facade with cast iron, projecting bays on second through third
stories and terra-cotta surrounds on windows at floors above; end bays project slightly from rest of
facade, creating idea of towers; eastern bay has original ornamented arch with wood and glass
doors, transom, and side windows; and end bays have ninth story; second and third stories have
smaller, paired windows with stone sills, transom bars and narrow piers; fourth story has paired
windows with terra-cotta surrounds; triple-height windows with continuous terra-cotta surrounds,
and cast-iron framing and spandrels at fifth, sixth and seventh stories: stone or terra-cotta string
courses above first, third, fourth, and seventh stories; arcaded terra-cotta cornice above eighth story.

Alterations: Replacement stone entrance arches on western “tower” bay at John Street facade, same
as on Broadway; between arches, ground story has replacement store windows with metal
bulkheads and metal and glass fill above; two mid-building entrances with rounded metal marquees;
cast iron painted as on Broadway facade; security cameras added at top of ground story.

MNorthern facade

Part of western tower visible next to Fulton Center entrance; most of northern facade faced with
brick and no openings; top two storics separated from base by terra-cotta belt courses; two windows
on each of top two floors; windows have terra-cotta surrounds: large brick chimney projects
between top story windows; pyramidal roof over towers (ori ginally terra cotta) was rebuilt in metal;
some terra cotta replaced and all terra cotta painted.
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The {*ﬁs‘?}iiz building is located on Broadway, just north of the Wall Street financial section
and just south of the C wu Center. Lower Manhattan developed as the city’s commercial center at
the beginning of the 19" century as residential areas moved to more northerly locales. After the
Civil War the economy thrived: growing and changing businesses needed lar ger facilities creating a
great need for new construction. New, up-to-date structures would project a prosperous image to the
public and thus lower Broadway was rebuilt with many new buildings.

The first passenger elevator was used in the Equitable Buildir ing z’}n Broadway and Cedar
Street (1868-70, Gilman & Kendall and George B. Post, demolished). Although this buil ding was
only seven-and-a-half stories tall, the use of the elevator convinced de 'ck}mrs that the upper stories
of a builc img could be as desirable as lower ones and that tall structures could be monommzﬂy
feasible. As elevator use became standard, other technolo ogical advances, including “fire-proof”
construction and iron floor beams were also used. Complete metal framing advanced
technologically and was more widely used, and builders were able to attain even greater heights,
Taller buildings were particularly well-suited to the narrow buil ding sites of Manhattan.

The new transitional “skyscraper” buildings that appeared on or near Park Row, across from
City Hall in the 1870s and 80s were some of the earliest of this type and exhibited a variety of
styles. Many were built for newspapers, due to the area’s proximity (o city government, and their
often flamboyant facades served as useful advertisements for their products. Prominent examples
from this period include The New York Times building (now Pace University, 41 Park Row, 1888-
89, George B. Post), the American Tract Society Building (150 Nassau Street, 1894-95. R H.
Robertson), the Potter Building (139 Nassau Street, 1883-86. N. (. Starkweathe 1), and Temple
Court (5 Beekman Street, 1881-83, Silliman & i’az‘nsxwrth}, all designated New York City
Landmarks. ,

The Corbin Building was part of this early group. Its nine stories towered over its threc-and
four-story neighbors. The building included a passenger elevator and iron floor beams but it also
had masonry bearing walls, so it could not be classified as a true skyscraper. Its facade incorporated
many of the flamboyant designs of this type of building, with multiple facing materials and an
abundance of ornament and window openings.

The Corbin Building

The Corbin Building is located on part of the substantial land holc dings of the Collegiate
Reformed Protestant Dutch Church of New York.' In 1869, the Ministers, Elders and Deacons of
the Reformed Protestant Dutch Church of the City of New York leased the !o& on the northeast
corner of Bwad\x ay and John Street to the North American Fire Insurance Company. This group
defaulted in 1872 and the lease was then assigned to several different people. In 1881, while the lot
was dcvclepcd with four small brick buildings, the lease was acquired by Austin Corbin. Corbin
signed a new 21-year lease with the Dutch Reformed Church in 1886, agreeing to pay $18,000 rent
each year.”

Austin Corbin (1827-96), a successful businessman, bggan his carcer in Davenport, lowa
where he was a partner in the banking firm Macklot & Corbin.’ He organized the First National
Bank of Davenport in 1863, after a national banking system had been established. Corbin then
moved to New York City where he established Austin Corbin & Company (later renamed the

Corbin Banking Company). After visiting Coney Island with his sick son in the early 1870s, Corbin
decided that this area would be a good place for development. He conceived the idea of creating a
resort with hotels to attract wealthy ;\QW Yorkers to the seaside. He built the Manhattan Beach and
the Oriental Hotels in the late 1870s, along with the Manhattan Beach Amphitheater (1885, Francis
H. Kimball), to provide visitors with varied entertainment. To improve transportation for resort
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purchased and upgraded several local railroads. Buying and coordinating a number
lines, he

C mbm"s lease on the property at Broadway and John streets reflected the exc cellent climate
for business growth in this area of the city. Once he had secured the lease for the Broadway
property, Corbin determined to build a new office bui Iding for his banking firm with extra space for

income producing tenants. He hired Francis H. Kimball for the design of the new structure

ventually established the Long Is 1:,, d Railroad system.

Architect”

Francis Hatch Kimball (1845-1919) was born in Maine and fearned about building
construction when he was apprenticed to a builder at agel4. He joined the firm of Boston architect
Louis P. Rogers in 1867 (later Rogers & Bryant) and served as supervising architect for their work
in Hartford, Connecticut. Kimball was later appointed superintending architect for Trinity C ollege,
Hartford (1873-78) during which time he went to England to work with the English architect and
theorist William Burges who designed the Trinity campus. Burges™ High Victorian Gothic aesthetic
and his interest in 13" century French Gothic architecture made a lasting impression on Kimball, as
can be seen on many of the architect’s later buildings. In 1879, Kimball mov ed to New York and
formed a partnership with English-born architect Thomas Wisedell. They were active in theatre
design and were responsible for the Moorish-style Cas ino Theater, 1400 Broadway (1881-82
demolished) and the Yonkers Opera House, among others. After Wisedell’s death in 1884, Kimball
practiced alone, designing mdﬂ’v buildings in New York and elsewhere, including the Catholic
Apostolic Church on West 57" Street, the neo-Gothic style Emanuel Baptist Church in Brooklyn
(both designated New York City Landmarks), the Venetian Gothic > style Montauk Club (included in
the Park Slope Historic District) and the C orbin I Building. Many of these buildings were notable for
their plentiful and well executed use of terra-cotta ornament. W hile working on the Fifth Avenue
Theater (1891-92, demolished), Kimball created an carly technique for caisson foundations that
later developed into the standard foundation system for skyscraper construction, In 1892, Francis
Kimball joined in partnership with George Kramer Thompson and fine terra-cotta w ork became a
hallmark of their designs. The commissions of this firm included many tall office buildings in
Lower Manhattan, including the Manhattan Life Insurance Company Building ( 64-66 Broadway,
demolished) that is credited with being the first skyscraper with a full iron and steel frame set on
pneumatic concrete caissons. Other projects of this firm were the Gertrude Rhinelander Waldo
Mansion (1895-98), the Empire Building (1895-98), the Trinity and United States Realty Buil dings
(1904-7) and the J. & W. Seligman & Company Building (1906~ 7). all designated New York City
Landmarks. Kimball’s obituary in The New York Times called him “the father of the s skyscraper”
due to his many technical innovations and his involvement with many carly skyscrapers.

Terra Cotta”

Kimball became known for his use of terra cotta, following on his carly work executed with
Thomas Wisedell. He was noted for the ﬁm effects he achieved, “at once agreeable and varied, and
almost unattainable in any other material.”’ Terra cotta as a building material gained popularity in
the 1870s in the United States for its unlimited possibilities for ornament at relatively fow cost.
Although this material had been used in Greek and Roman times, it had fallen out of favor until the
late 19" century when it was also promoted for its fireproofing qualities.

Terra cotta was first manufactured in the United States at the Chicago Terra Cotta Works in
1870. The demand for this fireproof material soared after the Chicago fire of 1871 This company
supplied material for two buildings in New York, including the Morse Building at Nassau and
Beckman Streets (1878, Silliman & Farnsworth, a designated New Y ork City Landmark). In 1879
the Perth Amboy Terra Cotta Company was organized to create a more local supply source for the
material. Other local manufacturing companies followed, including in 1886, the New York



Architectural Terra Cotta Company.® Their offices were establi aééui in the Potter Building, with a

§

this firm became a major source of
¢ of the earliest commissions from

n’zmsziasm;; ng §’f; lity in Long Island City, Queens.
architectural terra cotta, its use on the Corbin Building was on
this company. " ,

Terra cotta is burnt clay and it derives its particular color from the type of raw materials
used, so that the results were different in different locales. C hicago terra cotta was usually grey,
because of the limestone content of local soils. Terra cotta produced in the east became available 1
other colors, and the variety of colors became a design element demanded by local architects.'
After mining, the clay was subjected to considerable processing, and finally was formed into the
desired shapes by molds created after the architect’s designs, allowing unlimited design
possibilities. Compared to stone, terra cotta was lighter and easiér to install, fine designs weathered
better, and the material allowed for more varied and intricate « designs.

Kimball had used terra cotta on his elaborate facade for the Casino Theater (demolished). Of
Moorish design, this building showed how terra cotta could be used to create elaborate decoration at
moderate cost. Other early works of Francis Kimball that show his ability to use terra cotta to
enhance the design include the Catholic Apostolic Church on West 57" Street and the Montauk
Club in Brooklyn.

-

Architectural Style

The development of tall buildings was a challenge to architects during o the late Ch century
as they searched for an “appropriate” style. Farly efforts included extending the height of the
ltalianate palazzo, while still maintaining heavy horizontal divisions by way of strong cornices and
belt courses. As buildings were made taller. this precedent was over-taken by the use of Gothic
detailing, mﬂucnud by the vertical emphasis in Gothic cathedrals. As arc hmgts experimented w 1(1
ever-taller buildings, they expanded their search for | inspiration to a wider variety of historical

styles.
By the 1880s, cage construction allowed the height of buildings to rise to nine and ten
stories. This construction method was explained in the Real Estate Record & Guide as

a frame work of iron or steel columns and girders which carry the floors only, and do
not carry the outer walls. In the cage construction the outer walls are inde pendent
walls, from the foundation to the extreme top, su istaining themselves only, and
therefore, the walls are made less in thickness thm if they had to bear the floors as in
ordinary buildings such walls would have to do."”

The Corbin Building was constructed during this period of experimentation and change i
the development of the skyscraper, seen in the variety of buildis ing styles and construction Lgdquucs
in lower Manhattan. Francis Kimball was in the forefront of this development. The Corbin Building
was one of his earlier efforts in this arca, and shows the ways talented architects were learning to
accommodate these new technologies. The Corbin Building was built with cage construction, as
described above. It has cast-iron columns and wrought-iron beams, as well as concrete, brick, tile
and terra cotta for additional smmmaj support and fire-proofing. The building uses Guastavino
arches on the floors, ceiling and roof to increase its fire-proof qualities. This system was invented
by Spanish-immigrant Rafael Guastavino and patented in 1885. The Corbin | Building was described
as the first use of this system in the publication Architectural Era.” In addition to their fire-proof
z;;ipahi ities, these arches also spanned a greater distance than traditional vaulting, decreasing the
need for beams and columns. The building’s ground floor originally housed a bank, for which an
open plan was provided through Lhc use of girders connected to metal columns that ran from the
roof to the ceiling of the first floor.'

LIt



The hiszhly decorative facades of the Corbin Building, with their multi-colored materials and

s are similar to the varicty of colors and shapes used on some other nearby
hliildlﬂ”’”) sud as the Potter Building and the Temple Court Building. These buildings were
intended to be artistic rather than solely utilitarian, combining a variety of decorative features on the
facades. The Corbin Building has a horizontal emphasis on its long, John Street Facade, reinforced
by several layers of different facing material separated by strongly articulated belt courses. 1Its
ground story is faced by dark, Long Meadow brownstone, with alternating bands of brownstone and
red Rancorn stone from England on the second and third stories. Above this, the walls are clad in a
tawny brick, highlighted by reddish-brown terra cotta arches, belt courses, cornices, parapets and
other elements. The influence of Kimball’s early and deep exposure to the Gothic style during his
stay in England can be readily seen here on the richly decorative terra-cotta window surrounds,
spandrels and applied ornament. These details include intricate foliate designs, stylized fish heads
and ogee arches capped by bouquets. The iron %pdﬂdld panels between the floors are covered by
flaming urns and rinceaux. The wm al grouping of iron-framed bay windows derives from the
Francois Premier style, developed in France and commonly used on the chateaus of the 17" century
in the Loire Valley. The windows are set deeply in the stone facade, with projecting piers and
transom bars, suggesting hwh]} fortified medieval structures.

The building received consider }lc raise when it was opened, including from Montgomery
Schulyer in the Architectural Rec ord."” He noted that the “work is of a very high interest.” While he
did not like the horizontal divisions created by the different materials and belt courses, he did think
the two end towers were quite successful. Also,

The stonework is austerely plain, except in the entrance at the rear to the upper
stories...[T]he greater plasticity of terra cotta is fully recognized and taken
advantage of in the detail of the upper stories... We can scarcely see elsewhere in

New York, except in Mr. Kimball’s own work, so idiomatic and characteristic a
treatment of terra cotta on so elaborate a scale. The upper story in particular, with its

groups of segmental arches, the pancled pilasters...t the shell frieze and the rich
incrusted panels of the parapet, constitutes a model of design in baked clay.

This unique and important building has survived for more than one hundred years as nearby

buildings were replaced by much larger structures. It has recently become part of the Fulton
Transportation Center of the Metropolitan Transit Authority and has been restored and rehabilitated.

Report researched and written by
Virginia Kurshan
Research Department
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orbin Building, prepared by Andrew S,

This information comes from the National Re
Dolleart, 2003, np.

* New York County Re egister, Liber Deeds and Conveyances, Liber 1104, page 640.

r Nomination, Narrative Statement of “Significance.

s

V., Trinity Building Designation
Report (LP-1557) (New ‘roz { ity of \ W York, &), prepared by Elisa i,,,z :mcl I E)( , Empire ”wr’d 1
Designation Report (LP-1933) (New York: City of New York, 1996), prepared by ,h} Simd\i 2y; “The W ml\x of Francis
H. Kimball.” Architeciural Record 7 (April-June, 1898), 479- 518; Record and Guide. “Francis H. Kimball.” in A
History of Real Estate, Building and Architecture (New York: Arno Press, 1967) reprint of 1898 edition, 698-9: and the
Research Files of the Landmarks Preservation Commission.

" “Francis H. Kimball Buried.” 7he

York Times, Dec. 29,1919, 9

* Information on the process of forming architectural terra cotta can be found in the designation report LPC, New York
Architectural Terva Cotia Works Building (LP-1 wll}{ lew Yorle City of New York, 1982) and LPC, Potter Buile !mu
Designation Report (LP-1948) (New Yurk: City of New York, 1996}, p prepared by Jay Shockley.

" History of Real Estate, Building and Architecture in New York Ciry, 518-25.

" This company was
the Potter Building on Park Row in 188386 (N.G. Starkweather, a designated New
cotta from the Boston Terra Cotta Company. See designation report above.

established by real estate developer Orlando B. Potter with his son-in-law Walter Geer. Potter built
York City Landmark) using terra

Francis H. Kimball designed a two-story office building for this firm (1892) that is the onl ¥ surviving structure {rom

this company and is now a New York City Landmark.

! National Register Nomination, np. Because Kimball used so much terra cotta on his buildings, he received the
commission to design the company’s headquarters building in Long Island City, Queens

P [ o . . = o
History of Real Estate, Building and Architecture, 320-25.

" History of Real Estate, Buile ng and Architecture, 463,
" The Corbin Building,” Architectural Era 3 (Octoher 1889, 224-25

$oa, . . . . . . L -~ o
National Register Nomination, Narrative Statement of Significanc

*“The Works of Francis H. Kimball.” Architectural Record 7 {April/lune, 1898y, 501-2.



FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and other features
of this building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Corbin Building ha*& a
special character, and special historical and aesthetic interest and wvalue as part of the
development, heritage, and cultural characteristics of New York City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Corbin Building
was constructed in 1888-89 as a speculative office building by Austin Corbin; that Corbin was a
successful banker and businessman who had developed Coney Island as a resort area; that Corbin
hired Francis H. Kimball, who had previously worked for him on the Coney Island
Amphitheater, to design an artistic skyscraper in Lower Manhattan resulting in this early,
transitional-style structure; that, at eight and nine stories high, the Corbin Building was the tallest
structure on the block when it was first built; that it was constructed using the cage technique,
with cast-iron columns and wrought-iron beams and non-load bearing masonry walls, before true
steel skeleton structures had been developed; that the flamboyant exterior, composed of a variety
of materials, window shapes and decorative ornament belongs to the category of early, artistic
skyscrapers that were built in New York City in the 1870s and 80s: that the architect was
instrumental in the development of the skyscraper in his creation of caisson foundations and such
carly skyscrapers as the Empire and the Trinity buildings: that Kimball was also noted for his
early and fine use of terra cotta, used prodigiously in the Corbin Building on window surrounds
and cornices: that the Corbin Building was one of the first to have terra cotta produced by the
New York Architectural Terra Cotta Company, founded in 1886 and a major producer of this
product on New York buildings; that the colorful stone and brick facades, the embossed iron
window frames and spandrels, and the richly detailed terra-cotta window surrounds cot mbine in
the Corbin Building to produce a unique structure that has served the Lower Manhattan business
community for more than 100 years and continues today as part of the Fulton Transportation
Center.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the € harter of the
City of New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New
York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the Corbin Bui ldmg
11 John Street (aka 1-13 John Street; 192 Broadway). Manhattan, and designates Borough of
Manhattan Tax Map Block 79, Lot 15 in part, consisting of the land underneath the described
building as its Landmark Site.

Meenakshi Srintvasan, Chair
Frederick Bland, Michael Devonshire, Michael Goldblum, John Gustafsson,
Adi Shamir-Baron, Kim Vauss, Roberta Washington, Commissioners
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Corbin Building, John Street (South) Elevation (details)
Phoio: Chrisiopher D. Brazee (2013)
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Corbin Building, John Street (South) Elevation (entrance detaihy
Photo: Christopher D. Brazee (2015)

Corbin Building, John Street (South) Elevation (looking woest)
Photo: Christopher D, Brazee (20135)
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Landmarks Preservation
Commission

TESTIMONY BEFORE THE NEW YORK CITY COUNCIL
SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES
REGARDING DESIGNATION OF THE STONEWALL INN

September 21, 2015

My name is Lauren George, Director of Intergovernmental and Community Affairs at the Landmarks
Preservation Commission {LPC). | am here to testify on the designation of the Stonewall Inn, 51-53
Christopher Street, Manhattan (Built: 1843 (51), 1846 (53); Combined with New Fagade, 1930;
architect, William Bayard Willis) as an individual landmark.

On June 23, 2015 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
designation of the Stonewall Inn as a New York City Landmark and the proposed designation of the
related Landmark Site. The hearing was duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law.
Twenty-seven people testified in favor of the designation including Public Advocate Letitia James,
Council Member Corey Johnson, Council Member Rosie Mendez, representatives of Comptroller Scott
Stringer, Congressman Jerrold Nadler, Assembly Member Deborah Glick, State Senator Brad Hoylman,
Manhattan Borough President Gale A. Brewer, Assembly Member Richard N. Gottfried, the Greenwich
Village Society for Historic Preservation, the Real Estate Board of New York, the Historic Districts
Council, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, the Family Equality Council, the National Trust for
Historic Preservation, the National Parks Conservation Association, SaveStonewall.org, the Society for
the Architecture of the City, and Parents and Friends of Lesbians and Gays, New York City, as well as
three participants in the Stonewall Rebellion—Martin Boyce, Jim Fouratt, and Dr.Gil Horowitz of the
Stonewall Veterans Association—and historians David Carter, Andrew Dolkart, and Ken Lustbader.

in an email to the Commission on May 21, 2015 Benjamin Duell, of Duell LLC the property owner,
expressed his support for the designation. Council Member Margaret Chin and the Municipal Art
Society sent letters in support of the designation. In addition, the Commission received letters or
emails from 105 individuals supporting the designation of the Stonewall Inn and three other LBGT sites.
There was no testimony or written communication in opposition. This designation was approved
unanimously by the LPC on June 23, 2015, which marks a record efficient timeframe between
calendaring and landmark designation of a property.

As the starting point of the Stonewall Rebellion on June 28, 1969, the Stonewall Inn is one of the most
important sites associated with LGBT history in New York City and the nation. This cultural icon and the
important events within it catalyzed the advancement of LGBT civil rights. In the late 1960s, when few
establishments welcomed gays and lesbians and repressive laws made it impossible for a gay bar to
obtain a liquor license, Mafia control of gay and lesbian clubs was a given and police raids were
routine. On June 28,1969 the Stonewall Inn was raided as part of a police crackdown on gay clubs,
leading to a several day uprising of protests and confrontations with police in an assertion of gay civil
rights.

Vigenalshi Srinivasan, Chair
1 Cenire Street, 9" £, New York, NY 10007 ¢ 212-669-7855 O www.nyc.gov/landmarks
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On June 28, 1970, the first anniversary of the Stonewall Rebellion was commemorated as Christopher
Street Liberation Day; the main event was a march from Greenwich Village to Central Park. That day,
Pride marches were also held in Los Angeles, San Francisco, and Chicago in commemoration of
Stonewall. Those celebrations have since grown into the internationally-celebrated LGBT Pride Month,
with events held annually in June throughout the world.

The two buildings that comprised the Stonewall Inn were originally built in the 1840s as stables, and in
1930 were merged at the first story and given a unified facade. Their combined ground floor
commercial space originally housed a bakery; in 1934 it was taken over by the Stonewall Inn
Restaurant, and reopened in 1967 as a gay club retaining the name Stonewall Inn. 51 and 53
Christopher Street are within the Greenwich Village Historic District, which was designated on April 29,
1969 — just months before the Stonewall uprising. From the time of the Stonewall Rebellion, the
buildings still retain their brick cladding, arched entrances, small storefront windows (common among
LGBT bars of the 1960s), and stuccoed upper stories.

The landmark designation of the Stonewall Inn marks the first time a site is designated as a New York
City Landmark primarily for its significance to LGBT history. Accordingly, the Landmarks Preservation
Commission urges you to affirm this designation. Thank you.

Meenakshi Srinivasan, Chair
1 Centre Street, 9" FL, New York, NY 10007 ¢ 212-669-7855 O www.nve.gov/landmarks
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STONEWALL INN, 51-53 Christopher Street, Manhattan
Built: 1843 (51), 1846 (53); Combined with New F agade, 1930; architect, William Bayard Willis

Landmark Site: Borough of Manhattan, Tax Map Block 610, Lot 1 in part consisting of the land
on which the buildings at 51-33 Christopher Street are situated

On June 23, 2015 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
designation of the Stonewall Inn as a New York City Landmark and the proposed designation of the related
Landmark Site (ltem No.1). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of the law.
Twenty-seven people testified in favor of the designation meluding Public Advocate Letitia James, Council Member
Corey Johnson, Council Member Roste Mendez, representatives of € ‘omptroller Scott Stringer, Congressman Jerrold
Nadler, Assembly Member Deborah Glick, State Senator Brad Hoylman, Manhattan Borough President Gale A,
Iira:\\c \\xunbiv Member Richard N. Gotifried, the Greenwich Vill lage Society for Historic Preservation, the Real
ite Board of “New York, the Historic Districts Council, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, the Family
wquality Council, the National Trust for Historie Prcxcrvuiom the National Parks ("Un%crvatiun Association,
SaveStonewall.org, the Society for the Architecture of the City, and Parents and Friends of Lesbians and Gays, New
York City, as well as three participants in the Stonewall Rebellion—Martin Boyee, Jun Fouratt, and Dr. Gil
Horowitz (Dr. Horowitz represented the Stonewall Veterans Association)——and historians David Carter, Andrew
Dolkart, and Ken Lustbader. In an email to the Commission on May 21, 2015 Benjamin Duell, of Duell LLC th
owner of 51-53 Christopher Street, expressed his support for the designation. Council Member Margaret Chin ang
the Municipal Art Society sent letters in support of the designation. In addition the Commission has also received
letters or mmzls from 105 individuals supporting the designation of the Stonewall Inn and three other LBGT sites,
There was no testimony or writien communication in opposition to the designation.

o

Stonewall Inn, June 2015 Stonewall Inn, 1969

Summary

The Stonewall Inn, the starting point of the Stonewall Rebellion, is one of the most
important sites associated with Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender history in New York City
and the nation. In the late 1960s, when few establishments welcomed gays and lesbians and



o , Y ay bar to obtain a liguor license, Mafia control of gay
and lesbian clubs was a given and poh ‘¢ raids were routine. At about 1:20 a.m. on June 28 1969,
when the Stonewall Inn was raided as part of a police crackdown on gay clubs, the reaction of
the bar’s customers anything but typical. Instead of hurrying off, they remained waiting in front
of the club where they were joined by friends and passersby. mostly members the LGBT
community. As the crowd grew, its members became increasingly angry at the rough treatment
some prisoners were receiving and resentful of the unfairness of the situation. Participants began
chanting “gay pride” and “gay power” and throwing pennies and other objects. The police were
forced to retreat into the bar, which became the focus of attack. Eventually they were rescued.
But for more than two hours, the crowd fought back while anti-riot police tried to clear the
streets. The protests and confrontations continued for the next few days until almost midnight
Wednesday July 2, 1969, with the Stonewall often at the center of events.

The Smmwall uprising was the catalyst for a new more radical phase in the LGBT
Liberation Movement. Within a few months, in direct response to Stonewall, several activist
organizations were formed in New York City, including the Gay Liberation Front, the Gay
Activists Alliance, Radicalesbians, and the Street Transvestites Action Rev olutionaries. Soon
new organizations were being established across the U.S. and throu ichout the world to promote
LGBT civil rights.

On June 28. 1970, the first anniversary of the Stonewall Rebellion was commemorated
as Christopher Street Liberation Day: the main event was a march from Greenwich Village to
Central Park. That day, Pride marchm were also held in Los Angeles, San Francisco, and
Chicago in commemoration of Stonewall. Those celebrations have sinee grown into  the
internationally-celebrated LGBT Pride Month, with events held annually throughout the world.

The two buildings that comprised the Stonewall Inn were originally built in the 1840s as
stables, and in 1930 were merged at the first story and given a unified fagade. Their combined
ground floor commercial space originally housed a bakery: in 1934 it was taken over by the
Stonewall Inn Restaurant, and m)p(,md in 1967 as a gay club retaining the name Stonewall Inn.
Nos 51 and 53 Christopher Street are within the Greenwich Village Historic District, which was
designated on April 29, 1969 — just months before the Stonewall uprising. From the time of the
Stonewall Rebellion, the buildings still retain their brick cladding, arched entrances, small
storefront windows, associated with LGBT bars of the 1960, and stuccoed upper stories.
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BUILDING DESCRIPTION

Description

The Stonewall Inn is comprised of two, two-story former stable buildings erected in the
1840s on the north side of Christopher Street, which in 1930 were joined at the first story and
given a unified Arts & Crafts brick-and-stucco facade. Sometime between 1966 and 1967 (prior
to the Stonewall Rebellion) the stucco extending from the second-story window sills to the
roofline at No. 53 and on the piers between the second-story windows at No. 51 was removed
and replaced with stucco to match the remaining stucco from 1934, The columned entrance
surround at the storefront of No. 53 (dating from 1934y was also removed in 1967 when the
Stonewall Inn was altered for use as a gay bay. The vertical neon Stonewall Inn si en that was
installed at No. 51 in 1934 was subsequently altered and taken down in 1989, Post-1969 changes
have also included the widening of the storefront entrance facade at No. 51 in 1975 and window
replacements; nevertheless the facade remains largely intact to the time of the Stonewall
Rebellion.

51 Christopher: former four-bay-wide, three-story, stable building, reduced to two-story
building with one-story wing at rear, apparently retaining original second-story facade, with
trabeated window openings and projecting sills, which was simplified and refaced with stuceo in
1930,

Historic facade features (ar the time of the Stonewall Rebellion): stone building sill, unpainted
brick cladding at first-story commercial storefront features decorative soldier courses above sill
and at top of storefront and slightly projected entrance bay: horizontal (originally four-feet-by-
eight feet) storefront window opening above high brick bulkhead; brick header sill course
beneath window; scored stucco facing at east end first story continuous with upper-story facing;
trabeated residential cntranc& stone threshold, single light wood transom: entire second story
faced with scored stucco; four trabeated window openings with historic pairs of six-light wood
casements; curved iron ﬂm&u box holders beneath each window: tall parapet topped by simple
coping; brick chimney at west side roof; metal supports for former vertical sign at southwest

corner roof; four historic skylights

Alterations (post-1969): storefront entrance widened to match segmental entry at No. 53
(original bricks reused); rounded brick step to match entry at No. 53: replacement doors, door

jambs, and fanlight transom in store entrance; replacement doors in residential entrance:
storetront window opening slightly narrowed; store window glazing and window frame replaced;
air conditioner vent hole above store door and two air conditioner vent holes above storefront
sealed and re-stuccoed; horizontal wood sign board installed over storefront with smaller metal
sign attached; retractable awning:; two light fixtures bencath awning; small metal property
owner’s sign to east store entrance; electrical conduit and alarm boxes under storefront window:
small louvered vent inserted in stone sill to west of store entry: piping extending from metal
sidewalk basement door beneath storefront window to fuel watchman meter to east of store entry
at No. 51; stucco appears parged and cracked above second story window lintels; vertical sign
removed: chimney parged and vent caps replaced; air conditioners and mechanical equipment on
roof.
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53 Christopher; former three-bay-wide, two-story, stable apparently retaining original second-
story fagade with trabeated \&'uuiow openings and projecting sills, which was simplified and
refaced with stucco in 1930.

Historic facade features (at the time of the Stonewall Rebellion): stone building sill, brick
cladding at first-story commercial storefront; slightly projecting entrance bays, round-arched
residential entrance, segmental-arched commercial entry, curved brick steps at both entries;
small projecting concrete plinths and traces of mortar and paint on brickwork flanking store
entry, remnants of 1934 entrance surround; horizontal (approximately four-foot-by-eight foot)
storefront window opening above high brick bulkhead; brick header sill course beneath window:
wood brick molding; wood jambs and transoms in both doorways: entire second story facade
faced with scored stucco: three trabeated window openings, which in 1969 had paired three-light
wood casements; iron squared flower-box holders beneath each windows; tall parapet topped by
simple coping.

Alterations (post 1969) stone sill parged; brick stretcher course above window replaced; stucco
parged and patched in some areas, spalling on upper story west window si ill; horizontal crack in
stucco running above second-story mndow lintels; doors replaced in residential and storefront
entrances, glazing i plawd and plywood liners removed; suspended light fixture removed from
store entrance; lights installed ﬂankmg both entries; Siamese sprinkler head beneath store
window; speaker box above west end shop window: fire alarm and louvered vent above
commercial entry, metal commemorative plaque and small metal property owner’s sign to west
store entrance: electrical conduit to east of entry; original three-light paired casements replaced
with five-light casements; rool and roof joists replaced 2007; air conditioner w mits at southeast
corner of roof, partially visible above parapet.

SITE HISTORY

Gay and Lesbian Discrimination in the 1950s and 1960s"

In the United States, the 1950s saw the passage of many anti-gay laws.” The Red Scare
not only prompted a search for Communist spies and sym;‘mthinrs but included gays and
lesbians, who were assumed to be easy targets for Soviet agents. " While there were no laws that
actually made being homosexual illegal, the illegality of most homosexual acts made being gay a
de facto crime.” Gays and lesbians could be fired or denied h ousing.” In the most extreme cases
consenting homosexual adults who had sex within their own home could be convicted to life in
prison, forced into psychiatric facilities, and even castrated. Even the 1960s, an era known for
its rapid political and social change, saw for most of the decade little legal progress in the way ot
LGBT twht& By the end of the 1960s, homosexual sex was outlawed in every state but | [inois.”

New York City was no exception. It was, in fact, “the city that most aggressively and
systematically targeted gay men as u‘iminals.””’ In New York anti-gay legislation pl()hlbm.d
same sex kissing and even dancing. " New York police could arrest anyone wearing less than
three items of clothing that were deemed “appropriate” to their sex, and the State Liquor
Authority made it illegal for a bar to serve someone who was known to be gay. ' Plainclothes
police officers would frequently attempt to enter gay bars with the intention of entrapping gay
clientele, and bars with gay patrons were constantly at risk of being raided and closed. Y In order
to evade the law, many gay bars claimed to be private clubs and required clients to be members
s0 as not to be regulated by the State Liquor Authority. Another outcome of New York’s




_.....
ey

iscriminatory environment was that most gay bars were controlled by the Mafia, who cou

di
licitly obtain liquor licenses and pay off the local police.'

il
Activism and Resistance in the 1950s and 1960s'”

The discriminatory environment of the 1950s and 1960s meant that very few people
would acknowledge that they were homosexual.'® In the 1950s, homophile activists and groups
strove to merely ha xg their right to exist recognized. hg two major homophile organizations 0[
the period were the Mattachine Society, which began in Los Angeles in 1950 and opened a Ney
York branch in 1955, and Daughters of Bilitis, a women’s organization, w h;fvh started in %:m
Francisco in 1955 and established a branch in New York City in 1958 They sponsored
conferences and published newsletters. Membership in these and other smaller groups tended to
be urban, white, dnd middle class but did not attract the younger or more radical members of the
LGBT community.’

There was, however, some resistai u\. and success on the part of the LGBT community.
From 1965-1969 a series of peaceful July 4" demonstrations demandin ng equality took place in
front of Independence Hall in Philade Iphia. These annual events were the largest peaceful
demonstrations for gay zwhtx of their time."” In New York, in 1966, members of the Mattachine
Society staged “sip-ins,” in which members of the group would approach bartenders and state
that they were gay. Their actions pmmptcd a court um,, and the court’s decision forbade the
State Liquor Authority from refusing to serve gay men.”

Greenwich Village and Christopher Street”!

For more than 150 years, Greenwich Village has served as a center and a magnet for
people who chose not to conform to society’s expectations. Associated with creativity and
political activism, Greenwich Village became known within New York City and the country as
the mecca for Bohemian life and a place that embraced unconventional lifestyles.”> The
neighborhood’s tolerance made the Village a haven for gays and lesbians as far back as the carly
20th century and by the 1930s the Village's gay reputation was firmly established.”

Greenwich Village's gay reputation made it the focus of the aggressive anti-gay policing
policy that gmda{cd in the 1950s. During election years, gay bars became targets of clean-up
campaigns.” As a result, gay bars typically on ly survivca‘i a few months at a time and frequently

maintained the atmosphere of a speakeasy.” The 1~,<:ri;’nmamry practices continued in the
1960s and were mztlwlari y acute during the 1964- I } b5 World’s Fair. Conscious of how the city
would be viewed, Mayor Robert Wagner led a clean-up effort thf‘at resulted in the closure of

5

almost all of the city’s gay and lesbian bars.™ After the World’s Fair, many new gay bars opened
on \«’\flwhmomn Square West, Eighth Street to Greenwich Avenue, and west on Christopher
Street.”” A study conducted in the late 1960s found 26 b bars, 12 nightclubs/restaurants, four
hotels, and two private clubs that catered to members of the LGBT community within Greenwich
Village.”

One of these establishments was undoubtedly the Stonewall Inn at 53 Christopher Street,
which was converted to a gay bar in March of 1967. The Stonewall was located in a prime
lucation within easy access of eight subway lines and where Christopher, Seventh Avenue South,
West 4", Sheridan Square, and Grove Street all converge. It was also within the stretch of
(./hi‘ismphu Street, between Greenwich and Seventh Avenues, which had evolved into the
street’s main gay commercial area and only a couple of blocks from “The Corner,” an
intersection at Greenwich Avenue and Christopher Street, which was Greenwich Village's most

[



The Stonewall Inn Restaurant

The buildings at 51-53 Christopher Street that housed the Stonewall Inn in 1969 were
originally two separate, two-story stable buildings.” Y No. 51 was erected by A, \001131% in 1843;
No. 53 was built in 1846 for Mark Spencer, who owned a large mansion nearby. In 1898, No. 51
was raised to three stories. In 1914, No. 33 was converted to a bak’cw whmh was le ased to
French baker Baptiste Ycre, who occupied the second-floor apartment with his family.” In 1930,
Henry J. Harper, who owned both No. 51 and No. 53 commissioned architect William Bayard
Willis to remove the top story from the former livery stable at No. 51 and remodel the building’s
interior to create a new ground story store and second floor apartment. The ground story of No.
51 was joined to bakery at 53 Christopher and the buildings were given a unified brick-and-
stucco Arts and Crafts facade. From 1930 to early 1933, the Yere bakery continued to occupy the
commercial space in both buildings and at various times members of the Yere family resided in
the upstairs apartments. After a vacancy of about a year, late in 1934, the Stone wall Inn moved
to the commercial space at 51-53 Chris 1“; er Street.”

The Stonewall Inn, sometimes known as Bonnie’s Stonewall Inn, presumably in honor of
its proprictor Vincent Bonavia, ()pcncd for business at 91 Seventh Avenue South in 1930.
Purportedly a tearoom, a restaurant serving light meals and non-alcoholic beverages, It was in
fact a speakeasy, which was raided by prohibition agents in December 1930, along with several
other Village nightspots.” !

With the repeal of Prohibition in December 1933, restaurants and bars serving alcohol
were able to have a much more visible presence. Therefore, in altering 51-53 Christopher Street
for the Stonewall Inn in 1934, architect Harry Yarish added a columned surround to the
storefront entrance at 53 Christopher Street (only the column plinths survive) and installed a
large vertical neon sign reading “Bonnie’s Stonewall Inn™ at 51 Christopher Street (later altered
and taken down in 1989)."" Advertisements and articles about the newly opened Stonewall Inn
on Christopher Street boasted of the “European atmosphere in its cocktail lounge and Salon
Continental,” and the bar decorated to resemble a hunting lodge.” ”

" The restaurant soon became a
popular venue fm weddings, banquets, and other social and civic events. These included the May
1935 dinner of the Greenwich Village Association at which Parkx Commissioner Robert Moses
spoke about proposed changes to Washington Square Park.™ In 1961 Geral dine Page was the
guest of honor at a reunion of the cast members of the (;[rcn:-n‘;«t‘hC«Squarc“s; 1952 production of
“Summer and Smoke.”"’

In March of 1965, the executors and the trustees of the Harper Estate sold a parcel
wnsutmw of the buildings at 51, 53, 55, 59, and 61 Christopher Street to real estate nvestor Joel
Weiser.”> The Stonewall Inn restaurant closed in early 1966 and some alterations were made to
the facade of 51-53 Christopher Street, including repairs to the second-story stucco and removal

34

of restaurant signs from above the storefront windows.™
“It Was a Mafia Joint-The Windows Were Painted Black™ 0

Later in 1966, four men, who had grown up together on Mulberry Street and were
affiliated with the Genovese family, invested a total of $3,500 to open a gay bar at 51-33
Christopher Street. They also made some changes to the exterior of the bui Iding, removing the
columned entrance surround, installing a pendant light above the entry (no longer extant), and

6



painting the storefront windows black. The wood storefront doors “were rendered more secure
by steel doors inside them and several inside locks intended to slow do*m the police in a raid.”"'
The windows were also reinforced inside with plywood, which was further reinforced with two-
by-fours “to prevent the police from being able i%} simply to break through the windows and rush
inside.”"* The relatively small window openings, high bulkheads, dark glass, and plywood
window liners at the Stonewall were typical features of LBGT bars of the period, meant to
protect the patrons’ privacy and prevent passersby from viewing clandestine activities within. ™
The name Stonewall Inn and the large neon sign topped by the word restaurant were retained,
though food was no longer served. The club opened for business as a gay bar in mid-March
1967.

To get around the laws prohibiting the sale of alcohol to homosexuals, the proprietors
purchased the license from a defunct social club so that they could claim to be operating a
private “bottle” club in which members brought their own liquor to the club to be used and
stored on the premises. In fact, very watered-down off-brand or stolen whiskey and beer were for
sale at exorbitant prices. Since the Stonewall was supposed to be a private club, patrons had to
knock and be screened by a doorman who peered at them through the small windows in the
club’s main door (replaced). If the customers passed muster, they entered a foyer where they
paid an admission charge and signed in, often using a false name. Larger than most clubs of the
period, the Stonewall Inn had areas for dancing in both its main rooms. Fach room was provided
with a separate jukebox offering different types of music to appeal to a range of patrons
(mainstream rock in the so-called “front room,” which contained the main bar, at No. 51; saui
music in the “back room” at No. 53)."" The clientele was mainly male and young, a mixture of
whites, blacks, and Hispanics, ranging from businessmen to colle 5@ students to gay street yoml
and included some women, both lesbian and straight, and transvestites and transsexuals. As
David Carter observes in his book on the Stonewall Rebellion:

The most important point about the clientele at the Stonewall Inn is that all
segments of the gay and lesbian community, including a strong representation of
the more marginal clements, defined the Stonewall Inn as a special place in the

N . L . . . 45
homosexual world of greater New York, giving it a unique status at that time

Despite its being something of a dive, with black painted walls, dim lighting, a third-rate
sound system, no running water in the i’mnt room bar, and frequently overflowing toilets, the
Stonewall Inn’s size and multiple dance floors made it a popular and enormously profitable
gathering place. Most scholars agree that it was allowed to operate because the owners made
regular payoffs to the Greenwich Village’s Sixth Police Precinet. But even with payoffs, gay bars
were raided about once a month, with stepped up enforcement at election time, when politicians
wanted to appear to be tough on crime, or due to neighbors’ complaints. Usually, the Stonewall
Inn’s owners were tipped off in advance about a raid and would leave the premises making sure
that most of the money and liquor was removed so that they would not be impounded as
evidence. The lower level employees, the doorman, bartenders, waiters, etc., and some customers
would be arrested. Law professor, William Eskridge recalled:

At the peak, as many as 500 people per year were arrested for the crime against
nature, and between 3-and 5,000 people per year arrested for various SGiwlmtu}n

or loitering crimes. This is every year in E\cw York City... This produced an

e}
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City cmc:i n Gthu" parts of America. (my pcopic vere not powerful enough

politically to prevent the clampdown and so you had a series of escalating
. . . . . 46

skirmishes in 1969. Eventually something was bound to blow.

av community in New York

The Stonewall Rebellion”’

Seymour Pine, in a series of interviews with David Carter in 1999 and 2000, indicated
that when Pine transferred into Public Morals squad of Manhattan’s First Police Division in the
spring of 1969 there was an ongoing investigation into possible mob involvement in the trading
of stolen securities in Europe. The police :»ubpuuud that the Mafia might be blackmailing gay
employees at stock depositories, forcing them to participate in the scheme and that various ga
clubs might be involved. According to Pine, his boss Detective Charles Smythe decided that “i
they dos;d tl”m Village gay clubs down, we’d see what would happen to the bonds that were
surfacing.”" Whether this was the motivating factor, or whether, as many belicved at the time,
there was an ongoing election year crackdown, or the police were simply implementing a tough
new State Liquor Authority ban against private clubs, under Smythe and Pin“"s lv“a,dcr*;hip five
Village LBGT bars were raided in the last three weeks of June 1969, including the Stc newall
Inn, on June 24. During the June 24 raid, under Pine’s direction, the bar’s hqum was seli/,cd and
employees were arrested. The Stonewall reopened the next day and Smythe and Pine, frustrated
with their limited impact, planned a second raid on the Stonewall Inn for late night Friday-carly
morning Saturday June 27-28 when the bar would be crowded.

—-9‘<

Friday Night-Saturday Morning June 27-28, 1969

This time Smythe and Pine came armed with a warrant authorizing them to search for the
illegal sale of alcohol. An agent from the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, and Fircarms and an
inspector from the Department of Consumer Affairs joined the police contingent consisting of
Pine and Smythe, two undercover policewomen, four plain clothes policemen from the Morals
squad, and two patrolmen. After waiting some time in Christopher Park, Pine ordered the raid to
begin at about 1:20 A.M.

Once inside. the police began to separate the people in the bar into groups. Almost
immediately they encountered resistance. Some customers refused to show their identification,
those dressed in female attire would not go into the bathrooms with the female officers so they
could verify their sex (the presence of just one transvestite was enough to make the place illegal),
and the lesbians in the back room began foudly complaining that they were being sexually
groped by the male officers who were supposed to be frisking them. A few foot patrol officers
and patrol cars arrived from the Sixth Precinct. As Smythe oversaw the seizure of beer and
whiskey, the police slowly began checking people for identification. Those that had it and were
not transvestites or bar personnel were allowed to leave, but instead of going home people
oathered outside, watching and waiting for their friends to emerge. “Cheers went up as favorites
emerged from the door, striking a pose % There were shouts of ‘Gay Power!” Someone began a
chorus of “We Shall Overcome.” A hug crowd began to form.

Finally a paddy wagon arrived and Pine hcgan the process of having the evidence and
prisoners loaded into the wagon. First the owners were brought out to jeers from the crowd, then
the bar employees, then a group of three transvestites. When a policeman shoved one of the
transvestites, she hit him with her purse. The policeman responded by clubbing her. Suddenly the

J

crowd grew angry and began beating the paddy wagon. As the police began escorting a lesbian



out of the bar to a waiting police car, she fou 3;;?3!; them then managed to slip out of the car and
make her way back to the bar. This happened twice more; the last time a policeman picked her

up and threw her into the car, as she shouted, “Why don’t you guys do something!” According to
Leo Laurence, a reporter for the Berkeley Barb, “That did it. The crowd rushed the police wagon
as someone velled, ‘Let’s turn it over.”™"

At that point Pine ordered the police cars and paddy wagon to pull out and return once
they had dropped their prisoners at the precinct. He was left with a handful of officers to control
the angry crowd, process the site, and guard the prisoners still in the bar. Some members of the
crowd began throwing coins and other objects at the police outside the bar. One officer was hit in
the eye and Pine decided the culprit was folksinger Dave Van Ronk, who had been having dinner
at the Lion’s Head Inn further down the street and was stzmdmg in the crowd watching the
action. Pine tackled Van Ronk and began to place him under arrest. As Van Ronk resisted, he
was beaten and eventually pulled into the Stonewall. The restive crowd grew even angrier. Pine
ordered his men into the bar, taking Village Voice reporter Howard Smith with them for his
safety.

A trash can was hurled against the Stonewall’s west window. Soon some street youths
uprooted a parking meter and began using it as a battering ram against the Stonew aH“’s doors.
People continued to lob bricks, cobb lumnu cans, bottles, trash cans, and anything else they
could find against the building, amid cries of “Gay Power!” and “We want f reedom.” A second
tfloor window broke.

Inside the bar, the Stonewall’s doors and plywood window liners b"g*m to give way
under assault from the parking-meter battering-ram. There was a momentary lull then the crowd
began to regroup for a new assault. Someone threw picces of burning trash into the bar’s broken
windows. The police found an extinguisher and managed to put out the flames. Police officers
began to draw their pistols. Pine went to each officer individually, asking them how they were
doing and telling them not to fire until he fired. Meanwhile the police found a hatch in the roof
and the smaller of the female officers managed to escape to a nearby firchouse. As a trash can
full of burning paper was tossed into the building, setting fire to the cloakroom and someone
began spurting lighter fluid through a window, following it with a lit match, Pine got ready to
fire. Suddenly, two fire engines and the Sixth Precinct paddy wagon pulled up near the
Stonewall. Pine began briy 1g ng his prisoners out, again encountering resistance from the crowd.
The Tactile Patrol Force [TPF], the city’s riot-control force appeared. Wearing helmets with
visors, carrying anti-riot shields, and armed with billy clubs and other weapons, the TPF walked
in a V formation down Christopher Street, forcing the crowd towards Seventh Avenue South.
But instead of dispersing, the rioters took advantage of the Village’s street pattern to simply turn
a quick corner and reassemble behind the wall of ;wi - A game of cat-and-mouse began, which
lasted for about two hours. At several points during the night. a group of gay street vouths
formed a kickline and started singing “We Are the Stonewall Girls; we wear our hair in curls....”
Eventually, about 4:30 in the morning, things petered out.

Saturday Night-Sunday Morning, June 28-29

By Saturday afternoon the Stonewall’s storefront windows were boarded up and painted
black. Several pieces of graffiti had been painted or chalked on the wood infill and on the
brickwork above the windows including “We Are Open.” “Legalize Gay Bars and lick the
Problem,” “Support Gay Power,” and “GAY PROHIBITION CORUPTS COPS$ FEEDS
MAFIA.™
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charge. Although the bar was uowdui a mud 1&1 ger crow d was formmg ACross m btu,u (md in
Christopher Park. Many of the previous night’s protestors returned, joined by their friends, and
by members of the LGBT community throughout the region, drawn by radio news coverage of
the previous night’s events. Tourists, Villagers, Black Panthers, Anti-Vietnam-War protestors
and “the idly curious” also joined the crowd. Chants went up demanding “Freedom Now,” “Gay
Power,” “Queen Power,” a,nd “Bquality for homosexuals,” and asserting that “Christopher Street
belongs to the queens.”™ Villuge Voice reporter Lucian Truscott reported that “hand-holding,
kissing, and posing accented each ofy the cheers with a homosexual liberation that had appeared
only fleetingly on the street before. Y As the crowd grew larger, reportedly numbering 2,000 by
midnight, it spilled into the streets blocking traffic, sometimes deliberately. Police cars appeared
and were attacked. Trash cans were set on fire. As the once jovial crowd turned nasty, the TPF
were once again called out and arrived by tlh busload around 2:15. They lined up shoulder to
shoulder across Christopher Street in front of the Stonewall then walked sweeping the crowd
from Christopher Street as far as Waverly Place. Once again, a group of protesters formed a
chorus line and began singing and dancing, facing off the heavily armed police. The police
gained control of the strects about 2:30, then faced fresh confrontations as the bars closed at
3:00, so that it was not until 3:30-4:00 that order was fully restored.

Sunday Afternoon-Wednesday Night, June /() Julv 2

By Sunday afternoon, hundreds of gays and lesbians were again gathering in the
Christopher Park arca. Following a meeting ui ofticials of Mattachine Socicty New York with
the mayor’s office and police, Mattachine had agreed to discourage further protests. A new sign
appeared in a storefront window of the Stonewall Inn:

WE HOMOSEXUALS PLEAD WIT
MAINTAIN PEACEFUL ‘\’\!D QUIE
THE VILLAGE-MATTACHINE™

H OUR PEOPLE 'T{) i’lw"A@iﬁ‘ HELP

T CONDUCT ON THE STREETS OF

With TPF police completely flooding the area, trying desperately to head off any trouble,
Sunday was mostly used for “watching and mppmg.““ A little after 1 a.m., Lucian Truscott and
Taylor Mead, the avant-garde writer-actor, were standing on Seventh Avenue South when they
encountered Allen Ginsberg who, having heard about the “Stonewall battle,” wanted to see what
was going on and “to show the colors. "0 Realizing that he had never been there, Ginsberg
expressed a desire to visit the Stonewall and was accompanied by Truscott. Inside the dimly it

club, with music blaring from a stereo s\zstun that replaced the jukeboxes destroyed in the mld,
Ginsberg “danced with a whole bunch of kids.”" Walking home with Truscott to the Lower East
Side, Ginsberg contrasted his pas‘t cxpcrwn«vu with what they had occurred at the Stonewall that
evening, saying, “You know, ti uys there were so beautiful ~ they’ve lost that wounded look
that fags all had ten years ago.”™

Monday and Tuesday nights were quiet, with few people on the streets. Tempers
remained on edge and there were a few nasty confrontations between police officers and
members of LGBT community.

Late Wednesday night, the Village Voice appeared with Smith and Truscott’s articles on
the Stonewall as the cover stories. Although accurately reported, the frequently condescending
tone of the articles and the use of such phrases as “the forces of faggotry” reinforced a long-
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standing resentment in the LGBT community about the paper’s conservative and often negative
attitude about homosexuality. About 10 p.m., a crowd of about 500 chanting yol uths formed on
Christopher Street in front of the Voice headquarters near the Stonewall Inn.”” This time there
were many representatives of radical organizations such as the Yippies and Black Panthers and
street gangs who were probably there in the hope of a confrontation with the police. Another
street battle began in which one police officer and a large number of protestors were injured, and
some businesses were looted. Ronnie Di Brenza writing in the Fast Village Other reported that
“this all ended within an hour, and peace was restored. But the word is out Christopher Street
shall be liberated. The fags have had it with oppression.”®

Later History of 51-53 Christopher Street

According to David Carter the Stonewall Inn closed by October 1969 when a for rent
sign appeared in the window, done in by the club’s notoriety and the lack of a liquor license,
which meant that the owners had to continue to operate it as “a juice bar.”®' Evidently there were
some plans o reopen a ¢ lub on the premises because in autumn 1970 plans were m d with the
Department of Buildings and the Landmarks Preservation Commission for a restaurant and bar
serving only soft drinks that would utilize most of the existing fixtures from the Stonewall Inn
but have a larger platform for disco dancers.”” The architect’s letter to the Landmarks
Commission indicated that the facade would not be ¢l

hanged except for “new plate glass to

replace broken glass and minor repair work to the street door and trim” adding that “one pair of
broken doors was replaced some time ago.”™"”
By 1975 the 51-61 Christopher Corporation, controlled by Manny Duell, had acquired the

buildings and begun leasing the first floor wmmuua} spaces scparatcl}: mth Bowl & Board
occupying No. 53.°% In August 1975 an application was filed on behalf of the Bagel Place
restaurant to widen the store entrance at No. 51 duplicating the entrance at No. 53.% This change
would have necessitated some reduction in-the width of the storefront window. The vertical
Stonewall Inn sign, which was very deteriorated, was replaced by an illuminated sign with a
bronze-colored duranodic aluminum background and brass lettering.

In 1987, a new gay bar opened at 51 Christopher Street, and paying tribute to the
butlding’s historic importance was named ‘%t{mcwail By 1988 the illuminated vertical Bagel
Land sign was; rcflicm;! to read “STONEWALL.” After the bar closed in October 1989, the sign
was removed.”” Around 1992 a men’s clothing store moved to No. 51 and the retractable aw ning
was m:r;miled,“ That building is currently occupied by a nail salon-spa.

Around 1982, the Szechuan Cottage Restaurant began leasing No. 533 and made some
changes to the fagade without permits from the Landmarks %‘}i‘“%rvz‘zticm Commission, which
included the replacement of the second story casement windows.”

By 1993 the third Stonewall, also a gay bar, opened at No. 33 Chri »xm sher.®” 1t was
renovated in the late 1990s, when it became “a p(}pu]ar multi-floor nightclub.”™” At that point the
casement windows were replaced.” According to the Wikipedia article on the Stonewall Inn “the

club gained popularity for several years, [attracting] a young urban gay clientele until it closed in
2006.”" In January 2007, new lessees took over, renamed it the Stonewall Inn, and made major
renovations to the interior. The building’s roof was also replaced at that time.” In operation in
June 2015, the current Stonewall Inn continues to pay tribute to the building’s historic
significance.
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Gay Power and Gay Pride: The Legacy of the Stonewall Rebellion

The 1969 rebellion began as a protest against police harassment and the Mafia-controlled
gay bar scene in New York City, but the true legacy of Stonewall is as inspiration of ¢
nationwide movement to secure LGBT civil rights. Almost overnight, an incredible number of
new gay and lesbian organizations were established-—by some counts rising from 50-60 groups
bcfom the uprising to more than 1,500 a year later and 2,500 within two years.” Most of these
new organizations embraced New Left values as well as much more public and politically
activist methods. These groups have often been called Gay Liberation Movement to distinguish it
from thc earlier, less activist Homophile Movement of the Mattachine Society and Daughters of
Bilitis.”

The seeds of the first of these new gay liberation organizations were being sown even as
the upmmﬂ‘ was still simmering. On July 1 and 2, members of newly-formed Mattachine Action
Committee (MAC) passed out fliers announcing a public forum on the topic of “Gay Power. i
That meeting—held July 9 at Mattachine’s meeting rooms in Freedom House at 20 West 40"
Street-—attracted nearly 100 participants who enthusiastically voted to stage a protest of police
harassment. At a second forum, scheduled a week later on July 16 at Saint John’s Episcopal
Church in Greenwich Village, tensions rose between Mattachine leadership—who wanted to
“retain the favor of the Lsmbl1shmcm”wffan,f;i the more radicalized constituents who wanted to
overthrow the Establishment.”” The latter ultimately broke away from Mattachine-New York and
established their own organization during a series of meetings on July 24 and July 31 at Alternate
U at 530 Sixth Avenue. This new group called themselves the Gay leuatmn Front (GLF).”

Several significant early demonstrations of LGBT political activism took place even as
the GLF was taking shape. On July 4, just a day after the conclusion of the uprising, the
Mattachine-sponsored fifth Annual Reminder in Philadelphia was effectively taken over by
young activists who broke with establi bhud du:on im, holding hands and displaying signs with
slogans such as “Smash Sexual Fascism!™" The difference in tenor with previous Reminders
was obvious; as one participant noted, “it was clear that things were changing. People who had
felt Qpprex%d now felt empowered. They were ready to insist on their rights rather than just ask
’or them.”™ On July 14, MAC members joined a picket line in support of inmates at the House

f Detention for Womm one 01‘ the first times LGBT activists joined other leftist organizations
n pubhc protest. And on July 27, to commemorate the one-month anniversary of the start of the
uprising, a gay power vigil and march was held in Greenwich Village, which has been called the
“city’s first gay-power vigil” and “the first openly gay march not only in New York City but on
the East Coast.”™"

The GLF, which was by design leader-less and as such suffered from a number of
organizational problems, was relatively short lived but highly influential, and its members helped
found a number of other significant gay liberation groups. Many were focused on subgroups of
the LGBT population.™ The Lavender Menace, later officially organized as Radicalesbians,
worked to introduce lesbian concerns into feminist discourse. The Street Transvestite Action
Revolutionaries (STAR), founded by Sylvia Rivera and Marsha P. Johnson, helped homeless
transgendered street youths. Perhaps the most influential of the organizations created out of GLF
was the Gay Activists Alliance (GAA), whose constitution was adopted in December 1969,



d itself with a host of New Left cau c%;«, the GAA dedicated itself

hts. It lobbied for the passage of local civil
rights laws, the banning of police entrapment and harassment, {isg creation of fair employment
nd housing legislation, and the repeal of sodomy and solicitation laws. Its most famous activist
tactic was the "zap," a direct, public confrontation with a political figure regarding LGBT rights
designed to gain media attention.™ The GAA’s headquarters, known as the Firchouse, at 99
Wooster Street served as an important community center and hosted numerous social events,
particularly the Saturday night dance parties and Firchouse Flicks movie series. Later groups
included Parents of Gays (later renamed Parents and Friends of Lesbians and Gays, PFLAG),
established in 1973 as a support group by the mother of a Stonewall participant and GLF/GAA
member; and the National Gay Task Force (later National Gay and Lesbian Task Force), the first

73.

Unlike the GLF, which aligne
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national gay liberation organization. established in New York City on October 15, 197

The more vocal form of activism um}ls:wui by Gay Liberation Movement organizations
proved effective in securing a number of legislative victories. In 1974 the American Psychiatric
Association removed homosexuality from the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental
Disorders. In 1980 New York State legalized same-sex sexual activity between consenting
adults. This was followed in 1998 with the recognition of domestic partnerships and in 2003 with
the Sexual Orientation Non-Discrimination Act (SONDA). In 2009, an executive order was
passed banning discrimination based on gender identity in state employment and in 2011 the
Marriage Equality Act became }Lm

It the political activism of the Gay Liberation Movement has been characterized by the
demand for “gay power.” the memorialization of Stonewall is defined by a corollary call for “gay
pride”—a term that is still used today to denote the annual commemoration of the uprising
during the annual Pride Parade and Pride Month. The first parade was held June 28, 1970 in
honor of the first anniversary of the uprising. The event was initially conceived by Craig
Rodwell as a “gay holiday” and was effectively an evolution of the Annual Reminders in
Philadelphia.™ The event was called Christopher Street Liberation Day, a name chosen “to move
attention from the Mafia- umimikd Stonewall and onto the gay and lesbian struggle for
liberation happening in the streets.”

The organizers of the New York parade encouraged other gay liberation groups
throughout the country to hold their own events on the same day. The first year four or five other
cities participated, including Los Angeles, which held the Christopher Street West celebration, as
well as San Francisco and C hlgag»:;. The following year the events spread to more cities in
America, and even internationally, to London and Paris and Stockholm. To commemorate the
tenth anniversary of Stonewall | in 1979, New York City d;dmgd June as Lesbian and Gay Pride
and History Month. On the 20™ anni tversary in 1989, the City Council voted to rename the
portion of Christopher Street in front of Stonewall as Stonewall Place. The 25 anniversary
commemoration included a massive n'mrd in New York City that attracted an estimated |
million participants.™ To mark the 30" anni iversary, the Stonewall Inn was listed on the National
Register of Historic Places in 1999-—the first LGBT landmark so honored-——and was designated
a National Historic Landmark vear later in 2000.

While the struggle to secure LGBT civil rights certainly did not begin at the Stonewall
Inn, the legacy of Stonewall as the inspiration for the Gay Liberation Movement and Gay Pride
events has been well established. As Martin Duberman writes in his pioneering history of
Stonewall:

3
o
Py



wwymous over the vears with gay resistance (o
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()DDILSSK}H hda hu word resonates with images of insu
realization and occupies a central place in the iconography of lesbian and gay
awareness. The 1969 riots are now generally taken to mark the birth of the
modern gay and lesbian political movement—that moment in time when gays and
lesbian rccogm/,ud all at once their mistreatment their suhdailt‘v As such,
“Stonewall” has become an empowering symbol of global proportions.” !

Report researched and written by
Christopher D. Brazee

Corrine Engelbert

Gale Harris

Research Department
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* Credit for organizing the Action Committee is shared by Dick Leitsch amd Michael Brown, although Duberman
states that “[Dick] Leitsch set up the Mattachine Action Committee and offered Michael Brown the job of heading
it” and that “Brown warily accepted,” while Carter claims “Leitsch vielded to Brown’s entreaties and agreed to form
an Action Committee.” Duberman, 216; Carter, 210
Dick Leitsch, quoted in Burke, via Carter, 215.

" The name was chosen “in part as a tribute to the National Liberation Front in its war with the South Vietnamese
and U5, governments”™ and also “in hope that the new pu!ili{;af entity would mdca bea “front,” that is, not simply a
vy and lesbian groups.” Carter, 218-219,

new organization but a unified alliance with all othe

J o
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" Carter, 217. In earlier vears the slogans included “Homosexuals ask for redress of grievances” and “Homosexuals
are American citizens also.” National Register of Historic Places, Stonewall, see. 8, p

3.
LA Vineenz, quoted in Kimberly Scott, “Stonewall’s Aftermath Spurred D.C. Suceess,” Washington Blade May
23, 1994, via National Register of Historic Places, Stonewall. sec. 8, p.1 5.

oy

' Martha Shelly, quoted in Carter, 217, Carter, 218,
81 :

Duberman, 266.

% Notable zaps include Mayor Lindsay at the steps of the Metropolitan Museum of Art on April 13,1970 and again
at the taping of a television program on April 19, 1970.

In November 1969, the Eastern Regional Conference of Homophile Organizations voted to move the Annual
Reminder from Philadelphia to New York City and to change the date to the last Sunday in June in honor of
Stanewall. Carter, 230,
¥ Carter, 230.

)

 Wational Register of Historic Places, Stonewall, sec. 8. p. 19.

¥ Duberman, xv.



FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION
On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and the other
features of this building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Stonewall Inn
has a special character and a special historical and aesthetic interest and value as part of the
development, heritage, and culture characteristics of New York City.

s

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Stonewall Inn, the
starting point of the Stonewall Rebellion, is one of the most important sites associated with
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Tranwendcr history in New York City and the nation; that in the late

1960s, when members of the LGBT community continued to meet prejudice on a daily basis and
repressive laws made it impossible for a LGBT bar to obtain a liquor license, police raids were
routine; that on June 28, 1969, an early morning raid on the Stonewall Inn was met with active
resistance forcing the police to retreat into the bar and setting off confrontations and protests,
which continued for the next few days until almost midnight Wednesday July 2, 1969, with the
Stonewall often at the center of events; that these days of protest engendered a new sense of
pride and power within the LGBT community; that the Stonewall uprising was the catalyst for a
new more radical phase in the LGBT Liberation Movement; that within a few months, in direct
response to Stonewall, several activist organizations were formed in New York City, including
the Gay Liberation Front, the Gay Activists Alliance, Radicalesbians, and the Street
Transvestites Action Revolutionaries; that soon new organizations were being established across
the U.S. and E§ roughout the world to promote LGBT civil rights: that on June 28, 1970, the first
anniversary of the Stonewall Rebellion was commemorated as C hmtuphu Street Liberation Day
and its main event was a march from Greenwich Village to Central Park; that those celebrations
have since grown into the internationally-celebrated LGBT Pride Month, with events held
annually throughout the world; that the two buildings that comprised the Stonewall Inn were
mwmailw built in the 1840s as stables, and in 1930 were merged at the first story and given a
unified facade; that in 1934 the ground story commercial space was taken over by the Stonewall
Inn Restaurant, and reopened in 1967 as a gay club retaining the name Stonewall Inn; that Nos.
51 and 53 (hnxtuphu‘ Street are within the Greenwich Village Historic District, which was
designated on April 29, 1969—just months before the Stonewall uprising; that from the time of
the Stonewall Rebellion, the bmldmgs still retain their brick cladding, arched entrances, small
storefront windows, associated with LGBT bars of the 1960, and stuccoed upper stories.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New
York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the Stonewall Inn, 51-
53 Christopher Street, Manhattan, and designated Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 610,
Lot T in part, consisting of the land on which the buildings at 51-53 Christopher Street are
situated, as its Landmark Site.

Meenakshi Srintvasin, Chair

Adi Shamir Baron, Frederick Bland, Diana Chapin, Michael Devonshire, Michael Goldblum,
John Gustafsson, Kim Vauss, Roberta Washington, Commissioners
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S1-53 Christopher Street
Photo: Christopher D. Brazee, June 2015
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51-53 Christopher Street in 1928
Photo: Percy Loomis Sperr, courtesy of the Lionel Pincus and Princess Firval Map Division,
The New York Public Library, Astor, Lenox and Tilden Foundations
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Floor plan of the Stonewall Inn ¢. 1970
LPC Files
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Block 610
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Stonewall Inn (LP-2574)

51 - 53 Christopher Street Landmark Site: Borough of Manhattan, Map Legend
Tax Map Block 610, Lot 1 in part consisting of the land on which the buildings Stonewall Inn Buildings
at 51 - 53 Christopher Street are situated. Block 610 Lot 1
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TESTIMONY BEFORE THE NEW YORK CITY COUNCIL
SUBCOMMITTEE ON LANDMARKS, PUBLIC SITING AND MARITIME USES
REGARDING DESIGNATION OF RIVERSIDE-WEST END HISTORIC DISTRICT EXTENSION 1i

September 21, 2015

Good morning, Chair Koo and Councilmembers. My name is Lauren George, Director of
Intergovernmental and Community Affairs at the Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC). I am here
to testify on the designation of the Riverside-West End Historic District Extension L.

On October 25, 2011, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed
designation of the Riverside-West End Historic District Extension Il. The hearing was duly advertised in
accordance with the provision of law. Twenty-seven people spoke in favor of the designation as
proposed, including State Senator Adriano Espaillat, Assemblymember Daniel O’'Donnell, and
representatives of State Senator Thomas K. Duane, State Assemblymember Linda Rosenthal, City
Councilmember Inez E. Dickens, Manhattan Borough President Scott Stringer, Manhattan Community
Board 7, the Historic Districts Council, New York Landmarks Conservancy, ArchNadzor (Moscow,
Russia), Coalition for a Livable West Side, West End Preservation Society, West 75th Street Block
Association, Landmark West!, and Westsiders for Responsible Development, as well as other residents
and neighbors. Three people spoke in opposition to the designation including the Real Estate Board of
New York, an owner and a neighbor.

On June 23, 2015 the Landmarks Preservation Commission unanimously approved the designation of
this 344-building district, bounded roughly by 94th Street to the South and 108th 5t to the North (I've
included copies of the district map for your reference). Designation of this extension was the
culmination of seven years of work by the LPC to preserve the historic architecture and character of
West End Avenue and Riverside Drive as well as the side streets in between. The agency worked very
closely with community stakeholders and sought extensive community input throughout this period.
The process was initiated via meetings in 2010 with the West End Preservation Society, who sought
protection for West End Avenue. In examining at this request, the Commission broadened its inquiry
to consider a significant portion of the properties west of Broadway between West 70th Street and
West 108th Street. Because the area was so large, the work was done in three phases, with two
extensions to the Riverside-West End Historic District and one extension to the West End-Collegiate
Historic District. All told, over 1,200 buildings have been designated between West 70th and West
108th Streets, including all of the buildings on West End Avenue and practically all of the buildings on
Riverside Drive.

The character and sense of place of this district is derived from its two spines: Riverside Drive and West
End Avenue. Both have a remarkably homogeneous character — the avenues lined by large apartment
buildings creating a strong streetwall, with some small clusters of row houses and mansions dating to
the area’s earlier periods of development. The side streets knit together these two great avenues, and
are lined with architecturally significant rowhouses, mansions, and other residential buildings. With

Meenakshi Srinivasan, Chair
1 Centre Street, 9" FL, New York, NY 10007 0 212-669-7855 ¢ www.nyc.gov/landmarks
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the exception of some neighborhood oriented institutional buildings (including schools and religious
structures), the proposed historic district is almost exclusively residential.

Built primarily between the mid-1880s through the early 1930s, the District's buildings were

designed by some of the city’s most prominent architects and executed in the dominant styles of their
eras, forming a distinct section of the city. The buildings along West End Avenue represent the various
phases of development that quickly transformed the once rural area into a dense urban enclave of
speculatively built single-family dwellings and grand high-rise apartment buildings. Rules established by
the Tenement House Act in 1901 determined the form, massing and maximum height of new
residential buildings until 1929. These regulations contributed to the remarkably consistent height of
apartment buildings particularly along West End Avenue, even in buildings constructed almost two
decades apart. Throughout this district extension there are picturesque row house ensembles as well
as several single family homes. The proposed district extension originally included 377 buildings;
however, after extensive additional research and evaluation by agency staff (which took place after the
public hearing in 2011), the Commission voted to approve modified boundaries and the district now
contains 344 buildings centered on West End Avenue and Riverside Drive.

Subsequent to the June 23, 2015 Public Meeting, the Commission also received approximately 336
letters and emails regarding designation of the Riverside-West End Historic District Extension ll. Of the
total, five were opposed to designation and one owner requested removal of her building from the
district. Among those in favor were 210 letters and emails opposed to modification of the boundaries
of the district as originally proposed, including letters from Congressman Jerrold Nadler, State
Assemblymember Daniel O’Donnell, Councilmember Helen Rosenthal, Council Speaker Melissa Mark-
Viverito, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, Landmark West!, West End Preservation Society, and
the Historic Districts Council. An additional 48 letters focused on retaining P.S. 75 (located at 96th
Street and West End Avenue) within the boundaries.

At the time that a district is calendared or even heard, the boundaries are not necessarily final, as the
our Research Department continues to investigate and the Commission receives information from
interested members of the public. It is not uncommon for boundaries to be refined during the process.
For example, boundaries were modified for the Gansevoort Market, Addisleigh Park, Park Avenue and
South Village Historic Districts, among others. In each case the changes have been made at the final
public meeting when the vote is scheduled, after a presentation by the Research Department, as was
done in this case.

This analysis was presented at a public meeting and discussed by the full Commission prior to the
designation vote, and as | mentioned, the Commission unanimously approved the designation of the
344-building district on June 23, 2015. Accordingly, the Landmarks Preservation Commission urges you
to affirm the designation.

Meenakshi Srinivasan, Chair
1 Centre Street, gt FL, New York, NY 10007 ¢ 212-669-7855 ¢ www.nvc.gov/landmarks
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OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 1 Centre Street, 10th floor, New York, NY 10007
. (212)669-8300 p  (212) 669-4306
BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN
431 Westi1zsth Btreet, New York, NY 10027

Tue CITY oF NEW YORK (212) 5311609 p  (212) 531-4615

www.manhattanbp.nyec.gov

Gale A. Brewey, Borough President

Testimony before the New York City Council
Land Use Committee
Application N 150458 HKM
Riverside-West End Historic District Extension Il
By the Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC), September 21,2015

Good Morning Chair Greenfield and Councilmembers.

[ am Diana Howard, Community Liaison, here on behalf of Manhattan Borough President
Gale A. Brewer in support the designation of the Riverside-West End Historic District Extension
I1.

This extension represents a large assemblage of architecturally significant residential
building types ranging from the 14-story apartment building dominating the corner to the single-
family row house on the midblock. The district itself is relatively homogenous in development
history and the unified cornice lines on the blocks truly represent a sense of place. These
buildings were also designed by some of our most prominent and premier residential architects,
so if someone did have a checklist for what’s worthy of designation, this district has it.

Landmarking is a crucial component to preserving the diversity of our neighborhoods,
and it is essential that we balance our desire to expand with sensitivity to maintaining the unique
character of our neighborhoods. The value of historic designation can also be quantified as more
than real estate prices. Historic districts are a collection of buildings that can be architecturally,
culturally, or historically significant, and it is the protection of that significance that has long
been recognized as serving a legitimate public purpose.

The creation of many of our historic districts have been the product of intense debate and
negotiation, and once created have undergone expansion; however, portions of the district
boundaries that were defined and agreed upon in 2011 were removed. When considering the
boundaries of a district, it is important to consider how many of the buildings within those
boundaries contribute to telling the story of that neighborhood’s development. That should not
preclude the inclusion of properties that are vacant, or that are not of the particular style that
predominates, or have no style.—~

A district is about the collection of buildings, not the individual, and it is these individual
pieces that together tell that story. Although originally proposed buildings were excluded from



the proposed extension, the designation of the district should proceed. I thank you for your time
and urge your approval of the Riverside-West End Historic District Extension II.



Coalition for A Livable West Side * PO Box 230078 * New York, New York 10023
Email @ livablenewyork@erols.com Phone: 1-212-874-3456 Website: www.livablenewyork.org

From: The Coalition For A Livable West Side in Support of the Riverside-West Fnd
Flistoric District Hxt 1T September 21, 2015

Good morning Chairman Koo and members of the subcommittee.

My name is Batya Lewton and I am the President of the Coalition For A Livable
West Side. As a non-profit organization founded in 1981, Coalition believes that
change has to improve the quality of life for the NYC’s residents and we advocate
for the safeguarding of our environment and for sound and rational city-wide
planning. For these reasons, we support the designation of the Riverside-West End
Historic District Extension II.

We had anticipated that the west side Broadway and the other buildings would be
afforded the same protection as they were when all calendared within this Historic
District in 2010, but that did not happen.

The Landmarks Preservation Commission chose to remove these buildings and
unfortunately more than thirty buildings still remain vulnerable in this area.

This designation comes too late for some buildings, like the Allendale on West End
and 99" St, which had its unique ornamental water tank enclosure destroyed in
2007. Or 711 West End Avenue, with its new building designed on top of an
existing building. This work was approved and permitted days before designation.
But fortunately, the remainder of West End Avenue, Riverside Drive and the
surrounding cross streets will now be preserved and protected.

Landmark designation will not freeze this area but instead will ensure that
development takes place in a sensitive and respectful way to the unique sense of
place that makes these streets so desirable. Many buildings in this area have
changed hands in the last few years. Through designation, we are hopeful that any
new contextual development will remain true to the character and spirit of the
neighborhoods they wish to inhabit.

It will allow the upper west side to retain its distinctive architectural and aesthetic
beauty, while moving forward into the 21 Century as the vibrant, diverse, engaged
community it has always been. Thank you
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